[image: Meeting packet cover for the California Committee on Employment of People with Disabilities (CCEPD) February 26, 2026 Full Committee Meeting]


Contents
Meeting Notice and Agenda	3
November Meeting Minutes - Draft	6
Job Coaching Policy Recommendations	12
Medi-Cal Work Requirements Comment Letter	27
Benefits Planning Comment Letter	30




[image: Meeting Header and Logo of the California Committee on Employment of People with Disabilities.]

CCEPD Full Committee Meeting
[bookmark: _Toc222305217]Meeting Notice and Agenda
Thursday, February 26, 2026
9 a.m. until Noon

[bookmark: _Hlk181083089]Public Participation Options
In-person: DOR Central Office, Room 301, 721 Capitol Mall, Sacramento, CA 95814

Video Conference Link: Zoom
Use Meeting ID: 981 6005 6255 and Passcode: f17yW$m%

Phone: (408) 638-0968
Use Passcode: 81707551

This meeting is being held in accordance with Government Code Section 11123. There may be members of the public body participating in the meeting who were granted a reasonable accommodation in accordance with the Americans with Disabilities Act.

Agenda

1) [bookmark: _Hlk147391364]Welcome and Introductions 
Taylor Winchell, Chair, CCEPD

2) Approval of November 2025 Meeting Minutes 
Taylor Winchell, Chair, CCEPD

3) Approval of Job Coaching Policy Recommendations 
Harrison Lane, Vice-Chair, CCEPD
Zak Ford, Board Analyst, CCEPD

4) Youth Leadership Forum Updates 
Matt Baker, YLF Project Manager, CCEPD

5) [bookmark: _Hlk220921125]Department of Rehabilitation (DOR) Order of Selection Overview 
Danté Allen, Deputy Director, Legislation and Communications Office
Jessica Grove, Deputy Director, Vocational Rehabilitation Policy and Resources Division
Nancy Wentling, Division Chief, Vocational Rehabilitation Policy and Resources Division

Break 10:30-10:45 a.m.

6) Discuss and Approval of Medicaid Work Requirements Comment Letter 
Taylor Winchell, Chair, CCEPD
Maria Aliferis-Gjerde, Executive Officer, CCEPD

7) Approval of Department of Developmental Services (DDS) Benefits Planning Comment Letter 
Taylor Winchell, Chair, CCEPD
Maria Aliferis-Gjerde, Executive Officer, CCEPD

8) Member Updates 

9) Agenda Items for Future Meetings 

10) Public Comment 

11) Adjournment								Noon*

* The meeting will adjourn upon completion of agenda.

Other Meeting Locations
· 501 N. Brookhurst Street, Suite 102, Anaheim, CA 92801
· 855 Third Avenue, Suite 3350, Chula Vista, CA 91911
· 800 Menlo Avenue, Suite 122, Menlo Park, CA 94025 
· 555 Technology Ct, Riverside, CA 93507 
· 1102 Q Street, Sacramento, CA 95811
· 290 North D Street, Suite 600, San Bernardino, CA 92415
· 800 S. Victoria Avenue, Ventura, CA 93009

MEETING MATERIALS: This meeting notice and agenda and other supplemental materials may also be accessed on the website, located on the Advisory Committee Calendar. All times indicated, and order of business is approximate and subject to change on the day of the noticed meeting. The meeting will adjourn upon completion of the agenda. Interested members of the public may use the teleconference number and video conference link provided to listen to the meeting and/or provide public comment. The CCEPD is not responsible for unforeseen technical difficulties that may occur and is not obligated to postpone or delay its meeting in the event of unforeseen technical difficulties with the teleconference line and video conference.

PUBLIC COMMENT: Public comment on matters not on the agenda is taken at the end of the meeting and members of public can make comments on agenda items prior to any vote of the committee. Depending on the number of individuals wishing to address the committee, public comment may be limited to three minutes per person. Non-English speakers who utilize translators to make public comment will be allotted no more than six minutes unless they utilize simultaneous translation equipment. The CCEPD is precluded from discussing matters not on the agenda; however, CCEPD members may ask questions for clarification purposes. 

REASONABLE ACCOMMODATIONS: If you require a disability-related accommodation, materials in alternate format or auxiliary aids/services, please email CCEPD@dor.ca.gov five days prior to the meeting. Any requests received after this date will be given consideration, but logistical constraints may not allow for their fulfillment.  


[image: Meeting Header and Logo of the California Committee on Employment of People with Disabilities.]
[bookmark: _Toc222305218]
November Meeting Minutes - Draft
Thursday, November 6, 2025

Meeting held through Zoom and in person at the Department of Rehabilitation’s Central Office. Meeting was held via teleconference within the meaning of Government Code Section 11123.5.

CCEPD Members: Brian Carthen (virtual), Alan Cruz (virtual), Tojia Currie (in-person), Jennifer Fischer (in-person), Robert Fried (virtual), Sandra Hernandez (virtual), Tim Jin (in-person), Aparna Kommineni (virtual), Damien Ladd (virtual), Harrison Lane (in-person), Michael Luna (in-person), Sandee Nieves (in-person), LaCandice Ochoa (in-person), and Taylor Winchell (virtual)

CCEPD Staff Members: Maria Aliferis-Gjerde (in-person), Matt Baker (virtual), and Zak Ford (in-person)

This meeting is being held via teleconference within the meaning of Government Code Section 11123.

1) Welcome and Introductions 
Chair Taylor Winchell called the meeting to order at 9:05 a.m. and a quorum was met.

2) Approval of August 2025 Meeting Minutes 
It was moved/seconded (Ladd/Lane) to approve the August meeting minutes. Motioned passed on 9-0-3. (Yes – 9: Currie, Fried, Jin, Kommineni, Ladd, Lane, Luna, Ochoa, Winchell), (No – 0), (Abstain – 3: Cruz, Hernandez, Nieves).

3) Election of Chair and Vice-Chair 
According to Operating Guidelines, the Executive Committee in September 2025 asked Executive Committee members to work with the Chair, in lieu of creating a nominating committee, for nominations to select a vice-chair. In reviewing the historical information, an election for chair should have been held in November 2024. Therefore, the CCEPD will hold vote for Chair to finish the term until November 2026. Winchell is willing to serve as chair throughout the term and Lane has agreed to serve as vice-chair.

It was moved/seconded (Luna/Cruz) to approve Winchell as chair and Lane as vice-chair. Motioned passed on 12-0-0. (Yes – 12: Cruz, Currie, Fried, Hernandez, Jin, Kommineni, Ladd, Lane, Luna, Nieves, Ochoa, Winchell), (No – 0), (Abstain – 0).

4) Agreement of 2026 Meeting Calendar 
In 2026, the CCEPD meetings will be hybrid with one in-person meeting. Members agreed to the meeting schedule, as stated in the meeting packet.

5) Discussion on Medicaid Work Requirements 
Yingjia Huang, Deputy Director of Health Care Benefits and Eligibility at the Department of Health Care Services, provided an overview of the new Medicaid work requirements. 

Implementation will include the following guiding principles.
· Automate to Protect Coverage
· Communicate with Clarity and Connection
· Simplify the Renewal Experience (now every six months)
· Educate and Train Those Who Serve Medi-Cal Members
· Provide Timely and Transparent Communication to Members

Overview of Work Reporting Requirements (Effective January 1, 2027)
· Impacted Population: Individuals aged 19 to 64 who are not pregnant, not entitled to Medicare, and are eligible to enroll (or are enrolled) in the Medicaid expansion eligibility group.
· Requirement: Individuals must complete one or more qualifying activities:
· Employment of 80 hours/month. 
· Have monthly income at least 80 times the federal hourly minimum wage ($580) (seasonal work will be averaged over the last six months).
· Community service of 80 hours/month.
· Enrolled at least half-time in an educational program.
· Participation in a work program of 80 hours/month.
· Exemptions: The law includes mandatory and short-term hardship exemptions

Mandatory Exemptions From Work Reporting Requirements
· Children under 19.
· Individuals eligible for another mandatory eligibility group (e.g., non-Modified Adjusted Gross Income).
· Foster youth.
· Former foster youth under age 26.
· Parents and other caretaker relatives. 
· Pregnant women and those entitled to postpartum coverage.
· Individuals receiving Supplemental Security Income.
· Individuals entitled to Medicare Part A or Part B.
· American Indians and Alaska Natives. 
· Parents/caretaker relatives of a dependent child(ren) 13 years or younger. 
· Parents/caretaker relatives of a disabled individual(s).
· Veterans with a disability rated as total (section 1155 of Title 38, United States Code).
· Medically frail individuals or those with special medical needs (as defined by the U.S. HHS Secretary), including: 
· Blind or disabled individuals. 
· Individuals with a substance-use disorder.
· Individuals with a disabling mental disorder.
· Individuals with a physical, intellectual, or developmental disability.
· Individuals with serious or complex medical conditions.
· Individuals meeting Temporary Assistance for Needy Families.  
· Individuals in compliance with Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program (SNAP) work reporting requirements or individuals who are non-compliant, but in a household receiving SNAP. 
· Individuals participating in a drug addiction or alcohol treatment program.
· Inmates of a public institution and recently released from incarceration within the past 90 days.

Work Requirements Process
1. Gather self-attested exemption or work reporting requirement information.
2. Conduct ex parte to determine if someone meets an exemption or work reporting requirements.
3. If unable to verify work activities or exemptions, applicants and members will have 30 days to demonstrate compliance or that they meet an exemption.

Outreach and Communication Strategies
· DHCS will implement a phased outreach campaign in all threshold languages and alternative formats, using culturally relevant and plain-language materials.
· The Coverage Ambassador model will continue, leveraging trusted messengers and local partnerships to reach diverse communities.
· Outreach will include FAQs, scripts, templates, and translated materials, distributed through websites, social media, flyers, and direct outreach.
· Communication will focus on equity, language access, and early awareness, with messaging aligned to implementation timelines and member actions.

6) Listening Session with Business Association
Kim Gusman, President and CEO of the California Employers Association, provided an overview of her organization’s work. 

The California Employers Association is a non-profit trade association that covers the complete employment life cycle for employers. They have 22,000 employers in their network. They received a grant from the Sacramento Employment and Training Agency (SETA) to assist their members with the hiring of people with disabilities. They are working to educate and inform employers on the benefits of hiring people with disabilities through employer roundtables, a webinar series, surveys, and hiring events. Part of recent work has included repackaging prior Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion (DEI) language into terms more acceptable to the current federal administration.

7) Agreement of Goals, Strategies and Projects
Executive Officer Maria Aliferis-Gjerde presented the updated goals, strategies, and what had changed from prior meeting. Members agreed on direction of the updates. 

8) Youth Leadership Forum Updates 
YLF Project Manager Matt Baker provided an overview of this year’s YLF activities.
· Increased statewide applications to 180 and served 50 delegates
· Continued improvements to risk management policies
· Added additional staff training day and new training resources
· Provided work experience to two youth and have expanded it to 10 youth for 2026
· Attendance at several conferences
· Regional events in Sacramento, Los Angeles, and San Diego

Plans for 2026:
· Additional regional events with new partnerships
· Updates to our statewide program including updates to curriculum and staff training
· Alumni engagement activities
· Attendance of more youth conferences and transition fair events

9) Agreement of CCEPD and YLF Annual Reports 
Members agreed both reports are ready for public release after the Executive Officer and YLF Project Manager presented the reports.

10) Member Updates 
Member Luna reported that the Department of Developmental Services is expanding its Employment Services Branch and creating three sections:
· Employment Supports – improving competitive integrated employment (CIE) outcomes
· Employment Development – statewide impacts
· Employer Engagement – connections to businesses and DDS as a model employer

11) Agenda Items for Future Meetings
Member Jin raised concern that future agendas should have less presenters so there is adequate time for discussion.

12) Public Comment 
Danny Marquez stated more needs to be done for people with
disabilities who are justice involved and seeking employment.

13) Adjournment
Meeting adjourned at 11:43 a.m.


[bookmark: _Toc222305219]Job Coaching Policy Recommendations
(FEBRUARY 26, 2026 CCEPD FULL COMMITTEE DRAFT)


Members of the California Committee on Employment of People with Disabilities (CCEPD) Employment and Training Subcommittee approved the below job coaching policy recommendations unanimously in the subcommittee meeting held January 20, 2026. These policy recommendations will be finalized and approved by the CCEPD’s Full Committee on February 26, 2026. These recommendations will be submitted to the Department of Rehabilitation and Employment Development Department as part of the informal feedback process before submission to Agency Secretaries.

Introduction

The California Committee on Employment of People with Disabilities (CCEPD) is a statewide advisory body that seeks to increase the employment rate of people with disabilities and better coordinate programs and services for people with disabilities. The mission of the CCEPD is to evaluate, develop, promote, and influence policies, systems, and implementation efforts to increase employment and training of people with disabilities. This includes making policy recommendations to the Secretary of the Labor and Workforce Development Agency and the Secretary of the California Health and Human Services Agency.

In late 2024, the CCEPD began working on the best practices for improvement of job coaching for people with disabilities, specifically with the angle of supporting employers with navigating job coaching as an available resource. Job coaching for people with disabilities involves individualized support to help them learn job duties, develop work relationships, and become independent in the workplace. Job coaches assist with skill assessments, job development, interviews, and employer education on accommodations, providing essential support to help individuals find and maintain meaningful employment. Over time, as the employee becomes increasingly self-sufficient, job coaching intervention is phased out.

Based on the requests of CCEPD members, the CCEPD began research for a job coaching online resource to assist employers that are utilizing job coaching as a resource to support employees with disabilities. As CCEPD staff and members obtained information from employers and partners, they determined that there were additional needs beyond just creating an online resource in order to best support employers. While the CCEPD understands all job coaching cases are unique, there should be more consistent standards for the provision of job coaching and better alignment across departments that provide job coaching and other supported employment services. 

The CCEPD identified the following four recommendations to improve job coaching services throughout California:
1. [bookmark: _Hlk210120221]Develop a job coaching online employer resource
2. Implement consistent standards and alignment for job coaching services across systems and programs
3. Expand and improve training for those serving as job coaches
4. Establish clear job coaching and supported employment career pathways

Policy Recommendations

Job coaching resources in California are currently insufficient and/or inconsistent across service systems and programs. Information should be robust, consistent, accessible, and easy to locate. Resources need to include more awareness about the role of job coaches in supporting employers, and their employees with disabilities. Additionally, job coaching training should be improved and expanded to enhance both employment outcomes and job coaching careers, as well as other careers, including those in supported employment.

[bookmark: _Hlk216274970]Since job coaching services can vary, statute understandably does not clearly define job coaching in absolute terms. However, Welfare and Institutions Code 19150 (a)(5) identifies vocational rehabilitation services with the Department of Rehabilitation (DOR) that may be included within job coaching, which are consistent with the CCEPD’s recommendations for agency secretaries. Additionally, Title 9 of the California Code of Regulations (9 CCR), Section 7159.5, and Title 17 of the California Code of Regulations (17 CCR), Section 58801, detail some activities and the scope of job coaching services provided by DOR. The Department of Developmental Services (DDS) addresses habilitation services for people with developmental disabilities, and Welfare and Institution Codes 4850-4867 include numerous references to job coaching services they may provide. While statute provides DDS some ability for rate setting and tiered reimbursement to service providers, statutes may need to be updated in these areas depending upon needed increases for adequate supported employment pay rates.

While there are often challenges for job seekers on whether to go through DOR or DDS, Gavin Newsom’s proposed 2026-27 California state budget includes $3.3 million for DOR to better align efforts to increase access to employment. The goal is to create a “no wrong door” service delivery model for individuals with intellectual and developmental disabilities who are looking for employment. This new framework between regional centers and local vocational rehabilitation offices will relieve individuals and families of the burden of identifying the right department, expediting their access to employment services, and reducing confusion and stress. Job coaching is often among these employment services.  

All of these policy recommendations are consistent with the job coaching concerns raised in the recent Challenges and Barriers to Employment for People with Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities in California report developed by the California Policy Center for Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities. 

In addition to providing these policy recommendations, the CCEPD is committed to providing the support needed to make these recommendations a reality. The CCEPD can facilitate further partner and cross-departmental discussions, and assist in the development of corresponding work products, to ensure adequate job coaching is available for people with disabilities throughout the state.

1. Develop a job coaching online employer resource

There is a need for a substantial job coaching online resource to assist employers. The CCEPD has done preliminary work to identify topic areas within the broader topic of job coaching by holding focused discussions with 12 employers, with assistance from members.  These discussions occurred between January and June of 2025. The focused discussions consisted of a set of questions developed by the Employment and Training Subcommittee (see appendix). Employers included companies and organizations that range from small to large, public and private, and for-profit and nonprofit. The goal of the discussions was to identify what topics employers need to understand when working with a job coach. Furthermore, the idea was to develop a website that may include a collection of short videos with corresponding information. The employers believed it would be beneficial to have short videos on key topic areas or “what to know” when engaging with job coaches and employee.

CCEPD staff met with representatives from the Department of Developmental Services (DDS) and Department of Rehabilitation (DOR) about the potential project. Creation of this project would require the use of existing funding resources or the allocation of new funding resources, which may be minimal. The online resource could be housed on either departmental website. While existing resources to complete such a project have been explored, they are limited regarding funding and scope. The CCEPD encourages students with disabilities to work on this project, as a work experience, to provide valuable experience for skill development and build skills needed for future employment opportunities. In collaboration with DOR and DDS, the CCEPD could lead efforts to develop this online resource and would partner with either a community college or another organization to develop the videos.

While employers are engaged during the period of employment, preparation should be discussed among all parties to provide additional context and offer a better, overall understanding to employers. The focus of this project should be on job coaching once employment begins. Job coaching resources can help employers better understand how it helps the employee develop in the workplace, and how it can result in higher rates of job retention. It is proposed that this project present information on how job coaching is a possible accommodation, how other accommodations might be included, and how accommodations can be modified following the phasing out of a job coach. Information should also be provided to employers on the different levels of job coaching, depending upon what program is providing the service.

Based on input received from 12 employers and anecdotal information from subcommittee members, the CCEPD believes an online resource should include a collection of short videos (approximately two to three minutes) on the following topic areas with corresponding text and/or fact sheets that might be helpful to employers. While some of these topic areas may currently read like best practices for the service providers since they are presented at an overview level, detailed scripts would be developed with employers as the targeted audience.

As learned through the development of the CCEPD’s Workforce Best Practices for People with Disabilities Toolkit in 2023, online content that hosts videos and fact sheets allow for ongoing training efforts for employers. Access to online content/training has been proven to be an effective way to promote continued learning.

[bookmark: _Hlk218765463]Below are the key areas identified by employers and CCEPD members with relevant job coaching experience. These insights were drawn from focused discussions on what to expect when working with a job coach. It is important that these areas are included in the online resource. They are presented in general order in which they would appear.

· General overview of job coaching and the role of job coaching
· Employers would benefit from a general overview of job coaching to alleviate possible initial hesitations.

· General background of different programs with job coaching components
· Since the level of job coaching involvement varies between programs, it is imperative employers understand this. This would not present details of all programs but provide a general background that there are varying services available.

· Clear understanding and agreement of specific program expectations from all partners
· Any job coaching program should be clearly laid out for all partners engaged in individual employment efforts. While each individual experience may vary, there should be a general agreement on expectations of the service providers.

· Preparation meetings
· Prior to work beginning, meetings should occur between the job coach and employer, employee and employer, and all parties combined. These meetings will provide all partners a better understanding of expectations, the employee’s skill sets, potential reasonable accommodations, and any other needs.

· Clear communication structure
· Method of communication should be made clear to all parties (e.g., job coach, employer, employee) to ensure that all are aware of how client issues, updates, and progress will be communicated between the parties. 

· Support line
· If job coaching is provided through a service provider, a point of contact with the provider should be given to the employer to address issues that may arise related to the job coach.

· Schedule of job coach
· Like the work schedule of the employee, the job coach’s schedule should be clearly communicated to the employer so any needs can be addressed accordingly.

· Clear role for job coach
· The role of the job coach is to empower the employee, not to “babysit,” or perform the job duties of the employee. Roles should be clearly identified to minimize over reliance of both the employee and employer on the job coach.

· Change in job coaches
· Every effort should be made to ensure there is no change to an employee’s assigned job coach. In instances where change is unavoidable, service providers must ensure the change is clearly communicated and coordinated among all partners. Continuity in cases is not just important to limit confusion, it may also impact insurance for employers, depending upon the work environment.

· Phasing out of job coach
· The overarching goal of a job coach is to assist the employee in establishing the “soft” and technical skill sets to enable the coach to phase themselves out of the job. While this may not be possible in all situations, there should be a plan in place to reduce the job coach’s involvement as the employee gains more independence at the job and skills develop. The job coach can also assist the employee in identifying natural supports, whether a co-worker or reasonable accommodation is put in place to help the  employee perform the tasks and activities needed for the job. Clear plans for accommodation, if warranted, should be established in advance of a job coach’s departure to ensure the employee can adequately complete work tasks afterwards.

· Off boarding of employee
· When the employee ends their employment, it is ideal to hold a meeting with all parties for a debrief of the experience. Topics, such as job recommendations, should be raised by the employee for empowerment purposes.

2. Implement consistent standards and alignment for job coaching services across systems and programs

[bookmark: _Hlk218776395][bookmark: _Hlk218776330]Job coaching services should implement consistent standards and align across systems and programs, including, but not limited to, the DOR or DDS supported employment programs, and workforce programs. Greater consistency, coordination, and alignment in the delivery of services among partners would improve system and program efficiency, enhance the experience of employees, and help expand overall employment opportunities for people with disabilities.

The CCEPD believes that aligning job coaching services fits into the creation of a model that DDS and DOR are developing whereby individuals can begin to receive services from either department. Currently, job coaching is often provided through vendors and is funded by regional centers or DOR, separately, which can result in inconsistencies. Additionally, a person receiving services from workforce may also receive different information that conflicts with DOR or regional centers.

The State of California has several initiatives and projects where job coaching could be a part of broader conversations of system and program improvements. In recent years, several Master Plans and collaborative projects identify areas of improvement for employment of people with disabilities and there may be opportunities to improve job coaching services through existing implementation efforts or discussions for system improvements.

The Master Plan for Developmental Services recommendations includes “people with intellectual/developmental disabilities being part of and being served by a strong workforce.” Under this policy recommendation, CCEPD recommends that job coaching is recognized as a professional role within the disability services sector and that it contributes to increasing employment rates for people with disabilities. The Master Plan for Career Education recommendation of “increase access to and affordability of education and workforce training.” This could be another area where job coaching is included.

There is potential for coordination with the DOR-AJCC Collaboration initiative, launched in August 2025. Funded projects through this initiative are increasing opportunities for cross-system/partner training, and co-enrollment and co-case management opportunities between local DOR field offices and AJCCs. This initiative could offer an opportunity to include job coaching providers in co-enrollment conversations and the development of training for AJCCs and employers.

[bookmark: _Hlk218777242]Within existing programs like DDS’s Paid Internship Program, there is an opportunity to better align job coaching resources and information. It should also be noted that when DOR staff work with Limited Examination and Appointment Program (LEAP) certified job seekers, job coaching may be incorporated during discussions about job accommodations.  Additionally, there is opportunity for more alignment of job coaching services within local partnership agreements for the California Competitive Integrated Employment (CIE) Blueprint. Job coaching is a proven strategy to improve access and assist people with intellectual/developmental disabilities in CIE.

As additional initiatives are developed and implemented, job coaching should be incorporated whenever possible.

[bookmark: _Hlk218778827]It should also be noted that some private organizations and larger employers may create their own internal job coaching initiatives. While the state may have limited influence over initiatives that do not involve public funds, providing information on improved alignment can still strengthen aspects of those private efforts.

[bookmark: _Hlk218779099]Additionally, AJCCs and other service providers should be aware that people with disabilities in need of job coaching services may fall into other targeted population groups. These groups may include, but are not limited to, veterans, English language learners, or the aging populations. When providing services to these groups, service providers should also be aware that many individuals may also qualify for disability-related services, such as job coaching.

3. [bookmark: _Hlk210723249][bookmark: _Hlk210723593]Expand and improve training for those serving as job coaches

The CCEPD has found there are many inconsistencies with the provision of job coaching training, as each program and service provider often establishes their own job qualifications and job descriptions. The target for improved job coach training would be service providers, and community of practice groups should be clearly established among them, ultimately, helping employers hire and retain employees. 

Job coaching core competencies should include disability awareness, understanding and performing job analysis, developing individualized training plans, teaching social and interpersonal skills, fading support to promote independence, facilitating employer accommodations, and understanding confidentiality and professional conduct. These competencies should be presented clearly in any training as job expectations. 

The CCEPD has found a critical component that is often inadequate among the referenced skills is a lack of strong communication when carrying out related tasks, especially with the employer. Although job coaches are rarely employed directly by the organization that employs the individual they support, clear communication regarding expectations and roles is essential to the success of all parties involved.

Currently, the primary requirement for DOR and DDS service providers is accreditation by the Commission on Accreditation of Rehabilitation Facilities (CARF). This general accreditation provides basic standards for employment and community services. The national Association of Community Rehabilitation Educators (ACRE) also provides approved training addressing the competencies needed for basic employment services, and employment services with an emphasis on customized employment. While not necessarily required, some service providers providing supported employment services have received ACRE certified training through DDS quality incentive programs. Many of these quality incentive programs have expired. Renewing them would be beneficial, as ongoing training through various modalities would be beneficial for strengthening the workforce. 

Additionally, the Association of People Supporting Employment First (APSE) provides the Credentialed Employment Support Professional (CESP) program, which recognizes individuals who have demonstrated a sufficient level of knowledge and skill to provide integrated employment services to a variety of populations. These programs are useful but provide broad and general employment services training on a national level. There is a need for more training on job coaching competencies specifically, and how these competencies align with California needs across diverse populations, and the state’s various systems and programs.

The CCEPD researched trainings coordinated by other states and reached out to the State of Oregon regarding their training program. Through the Employment First initiative in Oregon, Oregon’s Office of Developmental Disabilities Services (ODDS) partnered with Clackamas Community College to develop a 64-hour training curriculum called Introduction to Supported Employment (ISE). This curriculum qualifies as continuing education credits for ODDS employment providers. The curriculum includes eight modules which are eight hours each and can be presented as a complete course or individually. Coordinators of this training curriculum have established a community practice group with other states. While modifications would be necessary to reflect California’s larger diverse population and how its systems and programs are structured differently, the CCEPD recommends exploring implementation of this training program.

4. Establish clear job coaching and supported employment career pathways

The CCEPD encourages departments, while creating their models to identify professions (such as job coaching), to begin developing career pathways for professions supporting employment initiatives for people with disabilities. Job coaching is a profession that provides ongoing training to people with disabilities so they can sustain employment. In recent years, the CCEPD has continued to hear of the need for career pathways for various professions (including job coaching) to develop a pipeline of talent into positions and allow practitioners to seek opportunities to continue serving people with disabilities. The target for this pathway development would be state partners with programs connected to supported employment, and the service providers working with them.

Unfortunately, job coaching is often positioned as an entry‑level role within supported employment. As core competencies are defined and strengthened, job coaching should be recognized as a skilled profession, with tiered levels established to reflect increasing expertise. For instance, a skilled job coach must understand different types of positions, different industry sectors and work with a variety of people with disabilities. This should be associated with higher levels of pay.

In addition to job coaching, pathways should be developed to lead to numerous careers in supported employment. These careers may include, but are not limited to, counseling, policy, administration, program managers, and service coordinators. Those that have benefited from supported employment on their own employment journeys, and have lived experiences, should be ideal recruits for such pathway programs.

There is currently a workforce shortage in supported employment careers, which is detailed in the recent California Policy Center for Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities (CPCIDD) Impact of the Direct Support Professional (DSP) Workforce Shortage report. This workforce shortage is harmful to people with intellectual and developmental disabilities (IDD) especially, as assisting individuals with finding and retaining employment is the single greatest barrier to inclusion and independence for people with IDD. However, the workforce shortage impacts people with numerous disability types, and job coaching and supported employment is often provided for employees of varying disabilities.

The Impact of the Direct Support Professional (DSP) Workforce Shortage report states that for many people with disabilities, this workforce shortage serves to drastically limit opportunities for employment, choice of where and with whom they live, social activities, the type of services they receive, and overall access to their communities. The main factor is the historically low wages paid in relation to the high levels of skill and responsibility required for the DSP job. Other factors include staff burnout, high turnover rates, inadequate training for both new and experienced DSPs, and limited resources for enriching levels of support for the individuals they support. Additionally, awareness of DSP professions is lagging. The profession is often overlooked, as people seeking employment may not consider it as a profession with sustaining wages by workforce professionals standards. Finally, low reimbursement rates limit service providers’ ability to compete in the labor market and pay a competitive wage such that they could consistently attract and retain DSPs.

DDS recently established the DSP Internship Program, which provides up to three-month training and internship program that includes standardized, new direct care workforce entry-level training and practical work experience. This program will focus outreach efforts on populations that reflect California’s diverse population and do not traditionally have a pathway towards jobs in the field of providing services to individuals with developmental and intellectual disabilities. While the program is primarily focused on DSP jobs providing basic care supports, and not job coaching or workforce related needs, the program might be leveraged to support such needs.

Oregon maintains a website, Impact Oregon, which provides information on career pathways in supported employment for people with developmental disabilities. The website gives job seekers interested in supported employment professions an opportunity to explore jobs that may include both lateral and advancement moves. The CCEPD recommends that a comparable website should be developed for California to provide those in the state with ideas of varying supported employment job opportunities.

Addressing this workforce shortage and creating career pathways should begin with paying DSPs a competitive wage based on the skill set required for the job. Additionally, there should be a professionalization of the DSP workforce, by elevating the standards and providing comprehensive training and a clear career ladder, competitive compensation, and recognition as a skilled profession. While the CCEPD acknowledges current fiscal limitations, a priority should be made to address these challenges and continue to determine how to strengthen the workforce in coming years.

As referenced in the second recommendation above, relating to implementing and aligning job coaching services across systems and programs, the recent Master Plan for Developmental Services recommends “people with intellectual/developmental disabilities being part of and being served by a strong workforce.” Under this recommendation, job coaching and supported employment careers are a job within the field of disability and assists with increasing the employment rate of people with disabilities. Additionally, the Master Plan for Career Education recommendation of “increase access to and affordability of education and workforce training” includes a subgoal of “improving access to education for people with developmental disabilities.” Job coaching and supported employment career pathways can be a way to improve access.



Appendix

Employers Interviewed
The following 12 employers were interviewed by CCEPD staff between January and June of 2025. Additionally, CCEPD employer questions relating the job coaching were used in numerous 2025 California Policy Center for Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities (CPCIDD) employer roundtable discussions and interviews for their Challenges and Barriers to Employment for People with Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities in California report, resulting in similar responses.
· Chop's Teen Club – Small employer providing teen activities
· Crunch Fitness – Individual location for large fitness franchise
· Dogtopia – Individual location for large dog daycare franchise
· [bookmark: _Hlk216257579]Goodwill – Regional contact of large retail thrift stores
· Lavenders Flowers and Tono and Co. – Small employer providing floral design services and fabrics
· Lawerence Berkeley National Laboratory – Large employer focused on scientific research and development
· Outdoor Supply Hardware - OSH (Napa Store Manager) – Individual location for large home improvement retail chain
· Raley's – Corporate contact for large grocery store chain
· San Diego County – Large municipal employer
· Soapy Joes Car Wash – Multiple contacts for regional car wash chain
· Walgreens (Irvine Store Manager) - Individual location for large retail chain
· Walgreens (Regional Disability Specialist) – corporate contact for large retail chain

Questions Asked of Employers
Employer responses to the following initial questions assisted the CCEPD with gathering information for this job coaching project. (Depending on employer responses to certain questions, and available time, some questions may not have been asked of all employers.)

1. What have been your experiences with job coaches for people with disabilities?
2. How did you learn about job coaching? 
3. Have you employed job coaches directly or used them through a third-party service provider? How was that process?
4. What are the top challenges of utilizing job coaches?
5. What are the top benefits of utilizing job coaches?
6. How do you think job coaches can be better utilized?
7. What is your understanding of the role of job coaches in helping employees becoming as independent as possible at the workplace?
8. What has your experience been like regarding the phasing out of job coaching as employees gain more independence?
9. If you have worked with multiple job coaches, what different supports did they provide? Are there different supports or skills sets with job coaches that have been more beneficial than others?
10. How would you describe what job coaching is to another employer?
11. What specific topics do you think should be included in a job coaching resource for employers?
12. Our members have discussed the development of an online job coaching training resource to support employers that would include a collection of short videos on various aspects of job coaching, with corresponding information. Do you feel such a resource would be helpful?
13. Besides job coaching what other supports would you need to employ more people with disabilities?


[bookmark: _Toc222305220]Medi-Cal Work Requirements Comment Letter

New Medi-Cal work requirements will go into effect January 1, 2027, greatly impacting many people with disabilities throughout California. In the CCEPD’s Full Committee Meeting in November 2025, Yingjia Huang, the Deputy Director of California Department of Health Care Services (DHCS), presented the changes. In January, DHCS released an implementation plan for changes under the federal H.R. 1, which included the work requirements. Based on member input, the below comment letter was drafted. The comment letter will be approved by members in the CCEPD Full Committee Meeting on February 26, 2026.

Date

Yingjia Huang
Deputy Director, California Department of Health Care Services (DHCS)
P.O. Box 997413, MS 0000
Sacramento, CA 95899-7413

Dear Deputy Director Huang,

Thank you for presenting to us at our November 2025 Full Committee Meeting and sharing information regarding the Medi-Cal work requirement changes. We appreciate the partnership and willingness to engage with us.

The CCEPD is concerned by the new Medi-Cal work requirements going into effect January 1, 2027, impacting as many as three million Californians by some estimates. We worry that many Californians in need of Medi-Cal will be inadvertently overlooked and lose services. These impacts are considerably worsened through reestablishing eligibility twice per year. 

The CCEPD appreciates the work of DHCS on the implementation plan for enrollment changes under H.R. 1, which included the work requirements, and would like to reiterate the importance of addressing numerous concerns our members had with the upcoming changes. Many of these concerns are aligned with the implementation plan and may provide DCHS with additional supporting context.

The CCEPD recommends using existing data to identify people with disabilities who receive services from various programs, and identify them when participants establish eligibility again. We recommend that processes for renewal be simplified so eligibility can be done timely, in plain language, and not lead to loss of health care coverage. However, there are people with disabilities who are eligible and not connected to various programs and services for people with disabilities who may not identify readily as a person with a disability. Often times, these individuals have a disability through their medical condition. Providing clear information to those individuals about how their condition is considered a disability, and can be exempted from the work requirements, will assist them in not losing coverage.

To ensure Californians maintain their Medi-Cal services, extensive education and outreach efforts on work requirements and exemptions will be required. The CCEPD recommends partnerships with organizations serving people with disabilities, such as independent living centers, regional centers, and various other community-based organizations who serve people with various types of disabilities. Toolkits and guides should not assume all people with disabilities on Medi-Cal do not work or are not pursuing further education or training. Instead, information on effects of part-time work, community service, education and training opportunities, and what they mean for their Medi-Cal benefits should also be included in the toolkits for people with disabilities.

As part of the community service requirements, organizations that provide various services for people with disabilities should be included in the conversation on community service.

Again, the CCEPD appreciates the partnership and ongoing dialogue with DHCS. We look forward to further collaboration with DCHS on these Medi-Cal efforts, through utilizing our existing resources and membership.

If you have questions, or would like to discuss the CCEPD’s comments, please call Maria Aliferis-Gjerde, the Executive Officer of the CCEPD, at (916) 558-5698.

Sincerely,


Taylor Winchell
Chair, CCEPD

cc: 	Nancy Farias
Director 
Employment Development Department 

Kim Rutledge
Director 
Department of Rehabilitation 

Department Designees to CCEPD


[bookmark: _Toc222305221]Benefits Planning Comment Letter 

The CCEPD will submit a support letter outlining the feedback that the Benefits Planning Cross-Advisory Body Workgroup discussed through the fall 2025 and January 2026. This workgroup was created to develop the benefits planning in California report released in October 2024. Members will approve the language of the letter and can review the information in the draft benefits planning description. The letter is outlined below.

Mr. Pete Cervinka
Director, California Department of Developmental Services (DDS)
P. O. Box 944202
Sacramento, California 94244-2020

Dear Director Cervinka,

The California Committee on Employment of People with Disabilities (CCEPD) was pleased to recently partner with Stephanie Crist, Assistant Chief of your Employment Development Section’s Employment Services Branch to develop the benefits counseling service description for the Regional Centers.

The CCEPD had previously developed the comprehensive Benefits Planning in California Report in October of 2024. The report was a collaborative effort through a workgroup with other disability-related advisory bodies, state departments, and organizations to address barriers to employment from various income and asset eligibility related to cash, health, and long-term services and supports benefits. When CCEPD was asked to provide feedback, we were pleased to reconvene the workgroup for DDS.

The workgroup included representatives from the following advisory bodies and organizations: the California Behavioral Health Planning Council, the CCEPD, the Department of Rehabilitation, the Employment Development Department, the State Council on Developmental Disabilities, the State Rehabilitation Council, the State Independent Living Council, and Disability Rights California. Many of these representatives also worked on the report previously.

The CCEPD is pleased to support the two-tiered supports approach developed by the workgroup for benefits counseling services through regional centers, which would also include financial empowerment training. See the attached benefits counseling service description as developed by the workgroup.

Again, the CCEPD appreciates the partnership and ongoing dialogue with DDS regarding benefits counseling. We look forward to further collaboration with DDS on this project, through utilizing our existing resources and membership to provide feedback, and other alignment projects or initiatives. Understanding and managing benefits are an important aspect to maintaining employment.

If you have questions, or would like to discuss the CCEPD’s comments, please call Maria Aliferis-Gjerde, the Executive Officer of the CCEPD, at (916) 558-5698.

Sincerely,


Taylor Winchell
Chair, CCEPD

cc: 	Nancy Farias
Director 
Employment Development Department 

Kim Rutledge
Director 
Department of Rehabilitation 

Department Designees to CCEPD



[image: Contact information for the California Committee on Employment of People with Disabilities (CCEPD)

https://www.dor.ca.gov/Home/CCEPD

855-894-3436]
2

image3.jpg
CONTACT US

For more information, including current developments
and meetings, visit the CCEPD’s website or call the
Executive Officer, Maria Aliferis-Gjerde, at (916) 558-
5698.

WWW.DOR.CA.GOV/HOME/CCEPD
CCEPD@DOR.CA.GOV
855-894-3436

M\é}#t’}*t‘k





image1.jpg
Cé\-EPD CALIFORNIA COMMITTEE

CA COMMITTEE ON EMPLOYMENT

OF PEOPLE WITH DISABILITIES ON EMPLOYMENT OF
ﬁ*\ % PEOPLE WITH DISABILITIES

Full Committee Meeting

February 26, 2026

MISSION

To evaluate, develop, promote, and influence
policies, systems, and implementation efforts to
increase employment and training of people
with disabilities.

VISION

Through equitable access to services and
employment, people with disabilities bring :
diversity, experience, talent, skills, and value to
California’s workforce and communities.





image2.JPG
CALIFORNIA COMMITTEE
ON EMPLOYMENT OF
PEOPLE WITH DISABILITIES

Full Committee Meeting





